ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The circuit court erred in finding that “Defendant does not possess an Express Easements [*sic*] to access his property.” (A.R. 102).
2. The circuit court incorrectly applied the “unity doctrine.”
3. The circuit court misapplied the law in requiring that Petitioner’s Right-of-Way must first be “opened” to exist.
4. The circuit court erred in finding that no right-of-way existed, notwithstanding a finding that the plat to Lot 6 “illustrated an easement extending from the southwestern corner” and that “the original developer may have intended to construct an easement.” (A.R. 103).
5. The circuit court erred in finding that the right-of-way in question did not enter U.S. Route 50 at the location proffered by Petitioner, which goes against the clear weight of the testimony.
6. The circuit court erred in denying Petitioner damages in his counterclaim.
7. The circuit court erred in entering two orders for the same hearing.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By deed dated April 20, 1977, Vaughn T. Amtower and Bertha Amtower conveyed approximately 36.90 acres of land (the “parent tract”) on the north side of U.S. Route 50 in New Creek District, Mineral County West Virginia, unto Ellis M. Doll and Linda A. Doll (Mineral County Deed Book No. 205, at page 322). The Dolls then had the land surveyed by David G. Vanscoy, P.E., into six lots platted as “Claysville Heights” Subdivision, although the **Plat of Subdivision of Claysville Heights** was never recorded. (A.R. 68). Lot 3 (2.00 acres), Lot 5 (2.01 acres), and Lot 6 (2.01 acres) were sold as individual lots of “Claysville Heights,” to three separate grantees and their respective spouses, with each of the three deeds containing virtually identical language, aside from the respective legal descriptions and grantees. (A.R. 10-13; 14-17; and 18-21). Each deed was also accompanied by a “**Plat of Survey of Lot [number] Claysville Heights,**” which: (1) depicts a thirty (30) foot right-of-way along the northern (or

“back”) property line, (2) references the deed book and page and tax map and parcel number of the parent tract, (3) identifies the respective lot number for each lot, and (4) specifies that each is a part of “Claysville Heights.” *Id.* Lot 6—which sold for \$1,000.00 more than Lots 3 and 5 at severance—contains a plat depicting an additional thirty (30) foot right-of-way (“Right-of-Way”), the centerline beginning point of which is the southwestern corner of Lot 6, and which depicts the centerline of said right-of-way as traversing along the boundary line of Lot 4, extending fifteen (15) feet in width into Lot 4 and fifteen (15) feet in width along the retained parent tract. (A.R. 21). The legal description of Lot 6 begins at the centerline of this Right-of-Way, which is described as “leading to U. S. 50,” and is shown on the **Plat of Subdivision of Claysville Heights** as extending beyond Lot 4 in a straight line toward U.S. Route 50. (A.R. 18; 21; 68). Ultimately, the Dolls filed Chapter 7 bankruptcy, and the remaining real estate was sold by the bankruptcy trustee, of which approximately 28.38 acres was ultimately conveyed to Norman L. Ravenscroft and Robin L. Ravenscroft (then Telljohann), followed by a conveyance by them to the Robin L. Ravenscroft Living Trust (collectively “Respondents”). (A.R. 65-67; 6-8).

James Scott Kuhn (“Petitioner”) was conveyed Lots 3, 5, and 6 via deed dated March 28, 2018, from Michael L. Fitzgerald and Elizabeth J. Fitzgerald, who in turn acquired the real estate from a chain of title traceable back to the Amtower to Doll deed. Likewise, the Respondents’ real estate, which is approximately 28.38 acres, traces back to the same parent tract. Respondents’ deeds state that the subject real estate is “subject to all reservations, exceptions and easements of record in the chain of title, and includes all appurtenances and privileges passed through prior deeds” and are expressly “subject to those rights of way set forth in . . . Deed Book 243, page 373 [the original deed to Lot 6]” (A.R. 7 and 66). Having such record notice of

the Right-of-Way, Respondents nevertheless expended a substantial sum of money over the years to build a paved road from their house to U.S. Route 50, the lower one-third to one-half of which was constructed over the course of the Right-of-Way, as determined by Mr. Vanscoy at trial.

Petitioner and Respondents had some heated discussions about the use of the Right-of-Way, and at some point Petitioner believed that the parties had reached an agreement—which the Respondents dispute—whereby the Petitioner was to receive several acres of real estate from the Respondents to allow the Petitioner room to expand the “back” right-of-way in exchange for monetary consideration and a relinquishment of the Right-of-Way. However, when the parties reached an impasse, and the Petitioner began marking trees to be removed from his Right-of-Way to construct a road to extract timber and construct his residence on his lots, the respondent trust filed the case below, seeking a declaratory judgment and injunctive relief against the Petitioner’s use of the Right-of-Way, for which the Petitioner counterclaimed and joined the respondent individuals as third party defendants.

A temporary injunction was granted to the respondent trust by **Temporary Injunction Order**, entered October 10, 2018. By **Trial Order**, entered June 26, 2019, the circuit court found that Petitioner did not have a right-of-way as aforesaid, and the temporary injunction was continued. Costs were assessed to Petitioner, and the circuit court denied an award of damages pursuant to Petitioner’s counterclaim. The order directed Petitioner to file a memorandum in support of his position, which he did, together with a timely motion to alter or amend judgment, which was filed pursuant to Rule 59(e), and denied by **Order**, entered August 16, 2019. The **Order** of August 16, 2019 also denied Respondents a permanent injunction. Respondents filed a motion to amend the judgment, which was not ruled upon.

For the reasons set forth, *infra*, the Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court reverse and remand the circuit court's **Trial Order**, entered June 26, 2019, which denied the Petitioner a right-of-way as aforesaid, assessed costs to the Petitioner, and denied Petitioner an award of damages pursuant to Petitioner's counterclaim.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner's lots were created and sold pursuant to a subdivision known as "Claysville Heights," and Petitioner bargained for the Right-of-Way in acquiring title to the said Lot 6 to benefit Lot 6, as well as his other parcels, which are adjacent to one another. Such Right-of-Way exists by, *inter alia*, express reservation, and the circuit court deprived Petitioner of his intended use—as well as the full and complete enjoyment—of his property in granting the injunction and in ultimately denying Petitioner the Right-of-Way. The circuit court's finding that "[Petitioner] does not possess an Express Easements [*sic*] to access his property" (A.R. 102) is clearly erroneous, as Petitioner's deed to Lot 6 states "[t]here is hereby RESERVED an easement as necessary in, along, over, under and through an roadway or right of way constructed and to be constructed by the Grantors *for the benefit of the subdivision* . . . for the use and benefit of all owners of property whose source title is derived from the Grantors" (first emphasis in original; bold emphasis added). (A.R. 18-19). Additionally, with regard to the Right-of-Way, Petitioner's deed states the "[r]ight-of-way shown above is reserved by grantor for use of all property owners along roadway and any others entitled to use said right-of-way." (A.R. 18). Moreover, the plat recorded with the original conveyance to Petitioner's predecessor in title depicts the Right-of-Way, showing its starting point, width, and direction with only one logical output to the public road (U.S. Route 50) under the path of the platted portion of the Right-of-Way. (A.R. 21, 68, 70, and 71). This is an express reservation of the Right-of-Way for the

benefit of, *inter alia*, Petitioner. Furthermore, Petitioner provided evidence at the hearing of September 5, 2018 in the form of testimony regarding his damages, later set forth in his counterclaim, and further developed at trial, all which was not rebutted by the Respondents. Accordingly, Petitioner proved his claim for damages by a preponderance of evidence, and the same should have been awarded to him.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

The Petitioner does not request oral argument. Pursuant to Rule 18(a) of the *West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure*, the Petitioner submits that oral argument is unnecessary, as the dispositive issues have been authoritatively decided, and the decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT “DEFENDANT DOES NOT POSSESS AN EXPRESS EASEMENTS [S/C] TO ACCESS HIS PROPERTY.” (A.R. 102).

The Right-of-Way is described in the metes and bounds of Lot 6 as “leading to U.S. Route 50” from the southwestern corner of Lot 6, along Lot 4 (which was conveyed as part of what is now the Respondents’ 28.38 acres) and is depicted on the **Plat of Survey of Lot 6**, which is recorded with the original deed to Lot 6. (A.R. 18 and 21). The Respondents had record notice of this Right-of-Way, as they took title to the 28.38 acres explicitly subject to the deeds to Lots 3, 5, and 6 and “those rights of way set forth” therein, with detailed deed references reported in each of the Respondents’ deeds. (A.R. 6-8; 65-67). “Whatever is sufficient to direct the attention of a purchaser to prior rights and equities of third parties, so as to put him on inquiry into ascertaining their nature, will operate as notice.” Syl. Pt. 1, *Tanning Co. v. Boom*

Co., 63 W.Va. 685, 60 S.E. 890 (1908). Accordingly, the Respondents are estopped from denying Petitioner his Right-of-Way. Syllabus by the Court, ¶ 1, *Huddleston v. Deans*, 124 W. Va. 313, 21 S.E.2d 352 (1942).

A. A right-of-way depicted by plat, within the legal description of the title deed, and set forth by express reservation for the benefit of a subdivision, as well as all owners (such as Petitioner and Respondents here) “whose source title is derived from [common] Grantors” (A.R. 19) constitutes an “express easement.”

An “express” easement is simply “[a]n easement that is voluntarily created by a written instrument to serve a specified purpose. — Also termed easement by express grant; easement by express reservation.” EASEMENT, *Black’s Law Dictionary* (11th ed. 2019). When Petitioner’s predecessor in title received and recorded the deed to Lot 6, the grantors voluntarily created, by written instrument, an easement in the form of a right-of-way “in, along, over, under and through any roadway or right of way constructed *and to be constructed* by the Grantors [*i.e.*, the Dolls] *for the benefit of the subdivision. . . .* [F]or the *use and benefit of all owners of property whose source title is derived from the Grantors*” (A.R. 18 and 19) (emphasis added). The circuit court specifically found that that “in the deed at time of severance, there was attached a plat that illustrated an easement extending from the southwestern corner” which is described as in the metes and bounds as “coming from Lot 6 to US Route 50” and is “shown on the plat to Lot 6,” although a road was not constructed. (A.R. 102-103). Because Petitioner was granted an express right-of-way from the southwestern corner of Lot 6, the circuit court erred in its determination that he did not possess the Right-of-Way.

B. The circuit court's finding that Petitioner does not possess an express easement is clearly erroneous and deprives the Petitioner of his property rights acquired by deed by defeating Petitioner's intended use and complete enjoyment of his property.

Based upon the foregoing, the circuit court's conclusion that Petitioner "does not possess an Express Easements [*sic*] to access his property" is erroneous. Petitioner purchased Lots 3, 5, and 6 for fair market value in an arm's length transaction and is entitled to the full use and enjoyment of the Right-of-Way to Lot 6. Since Petitioner's lots are side-by-side, the deprivation of the Right-of-Way to Lot 6 devalues all three of Petitioner's lots. Although Petitioner has access to the lots from the "back" right-of-way, it is a difficult trek for any large, commercial vehicle up a steep dirt road (despite Petitioner's efforts and expense to improve it), with a sharp turn, and is partially blocked at the lower portion due to structure encroachments, thereby preventing it from being thirty (30) feet in width. Petitioner testified in the circuit court that this "back" right-of-way was insufficient for his timbering and construction purposes, for which he purchased the said lots. Accordingly, the circuit court's rulings on this issue were clearly erroneous and deprived Petitioner of his property rights accompanying the conveyance to him of Lot 6.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT INCORRECTLY APPLIED THE "UNITY DOCTRINE."

There can be little doubt that sale of town lots from a plat showing a tract of land divided into lots, blocks, streets and alleys *creates a private easement* in common over the streets and alleys in which the purchasers of lots become the dominant estate and the interest retained by the owner becomes the servient estate. This is so *regardless of whether the plat is recorded or is not*. This principle is called the "Unity Plan" to which this Court is definitely committed. . . . Undoubtedly, [the lot purchasers] are entitled to as much of the platted easements as will assure the *full enjoyment of their property*. . . . The opinion in the Edwards case makes

it quite plain that *the purchaser of lots shown upon an unrecorded plat, generally used and referred to in the conveyance to him, acquires an easement entitling him to the use of all the streets and alleys shown upon the plat*

Huddleston v. Deans, 124 W. Va. 313, 21 S.E.2d 352, 358 (1942) (Kenna, J., concurring) (internal citations omitted, emphasis added).

A. Petitioner is entitled to use of the Right-of-Way Under the Unity Doctrine.

Petitioner is entitled to the use of the Right-of-Way under the “unity doctrine,” sometimes referred to as the “unity plan” or “unity rule.” This doctrine was recognized in the public context in *Cook v. Totten*, 49 W.Va. 177, 38 S.E. 491 (1901), and later expanded to include private rights, even where the subdivision plat is not recorded (*see* Syllabus by the Court, ¶ 2, *Huddleston v. Deans*, 124 W. Va. 313, 21 S.E.2d 352 (1942); *Deitz v. Johnson*, 121 W.Va. 711, 6 S.E.2d 231 (1939); *Edwards v. Moundsville Land Co.*, 56 W.Va. 43, 48 S.E. 754, 754 (1904)). The doctrine provides that a purchaser of a lot sold as part of a general plan or common scheme of development to create a subdivision is entitled to use of any road indicated on the plat attached thereto or referenced therein. *Griffin v. Richardson*, 83 W.Va. 442, 98 S.E. 523, 524 (1919). This is the case whether the subdivision later comes into existence or not (*see, e.g., Deitz, supra*) and regardless as to whether the right-of-way is ever used. *Orlandi v. Miller*, 192 W.Va. 144, 150, 451 S.E.2d 445, 450 (1994); *Cook, supra* at 491-492; *Edwards, supra* at 756-757. Any ambiguity in a deed is construed in favor of the grantee. Syl. Pt. 5, *Realty Sec. & Disc. Co. v. Nat’l Rubber & Leather Co.*, 122 W. Va. 21, 7 S.E.2d 49, 49 (1940). Here, Petitioner purchased three lots, each of which trace back to plats titled “**Plat of Survey of Lot [number] Claysville Heights,**” under a general plan or common scheme to create a subdivision. Additionally, the “**Plat of Subdivision of Claysville Heights,**” which was not recorded, but was rather used to depict the general plan or common scheme of the subdivision, clearly sets forth the

beginning, direction, and course of the Right-of-Way. Therefore, Petitioner is entitled to use the Right-of-Way shown on his plat to the extent necessary for the full enjoyment of his property.

B. Respondents Had Record Notice of the Petitioner's Front Right-of-Way.

The deed to Lot 6 states that it is “more fully shown on Plat of Survey of Lot 6 of Claysville Heights,” which depicts a 30’ right-of-way, half of which is over Petitioners’ property and half of which is over Respondents’ property, traversing south to U.S. Route 50. Petitioner’s deed provides that the Right-of-Way, the location of which is described in the metes and bounds, “is reserved by the grantor for use of all property owners along roadway and any others entitled to use said right-of-way.” (A.R. 18-21). Petitioner’s predecessors’ deeds all reserve “an easement as necessary in, along, over, under and through any roadway or right of way constructed and to be constructed by the Grantors for the benefit of the subdivision. . . . for the use and benefit of all owners of property whose source title is derived from the Grantors.” (A.R. 18 and 19). Mr. Vanscoy, the person who surveyed the same, testified that the Right-of-Way could only come out at the 30’ clearance where Respondents’ property meets Route 50 on the western end, and was able to plat off exactly where that is, based upon existing rebar and recorded references. (A.R. 161-165; 204-231). Respondents’ own deed, the source title of which is a subsequent conveyance vis-à-vis Petitioner’s source title, is expressly subject to Petitioner’s lots and “those rights of way set forth in the deeds of record” to such lots, including Deed Book 243, page 373, the plat attached to which depicts the Right-of-Way. Therefore, Respondents were given record notice of the Right-of-Way at the time each respectively took title to the property at issue, and when the respondent individuals constructed the road over the Right-of-Way, they did so at their own peril¹ and should not be permitted to rely on this fact to

¹ The law imposes a duty to the easement holder to maintain the easement. Petitioner seeks only to traverse over the Respondents’ roadway where it was built across the Right-of-Way, and would be responsible for any harm thereto.

deny Petitioner his Right-of-Way:

The defendants cannot invoke laches against plaintiffs to defeat the purpose of their common grantor in dedicating the alley. Defendants are charged with knowledge of the existence of the alley. The instruments of conveyance by which they acquired their title made reference thereto or to the Settle map on which an alley is shown. The knowledge of the defendants was equal to that of the plaintiffs. Under this state of facts an estoppel does not exist as against plaintiffs and in favor of defendants. *The people who placed the structures in the alley did so at their own risk and should not be heard to complain when removal is enforced, the removal being a compliance with an easement imposed on the land by the original land owners.*

Huddleston v. Deans, 124 W. Va. 313, 21 S.E.2d 352, 356 (1942) (emphasis added).

Accordingly, Petitioner is entitled to the full and complete use and enjoyment of the Right-of-Way and to recover his loss of use and enjoyment of it while the prohibition of his use of it remains in effect. In ruling that “[n]o master plat was ever filed for this proposed subdivision,” and therefore, “the Unity Doctrine does not apply” (A.R. 102 and 103), the circuit court incorrectly applied the law. (See A.R. 156: “At the time these lots were off-conveyed . . . the Planning Commission was not in existence at that time.”). Under the unity doctrine, the fact that the master plat was not recorded is irrelevant, and Respondents took title subject to the rights-of-way in previous off-conveyances, which were expressly referenced in their deeds.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT MISAPPLIED THE LAW IN REQUIRING THAT PETITIONER’S RIGHT-OF-WAY MUST FIRST BE “OPENED” TO EXIST.

A right-of-way created by instrument need not be “opened” prior to use. “the lot purchaser is entitled to the use of all the streets and ways, near or remote, as laid down on the plat by which he purchases.” *Edwards v. Moundsville Land Co.*, 56 W.Va. 43, 48 S.E. 754, 756 (1904). “Having sold the lots according to the plat, [the developer] must accord to the purchasers the use of the streets and ways as shown thereon. . . . *thus making the plan and*

survey a part of the conveyance—as much so as if fully set out in such deeds.” *Cook v. Totten*, 49 W.Va. 177, 38 S.E. 491, 492 (1901) (emphasis added). Accordingly, the circuit court’s implicit conclusion of law that an existing roadway is a prerequisite the existence of the Right-of-Way is not supported by legal authority.

A. The circuit court’s emphasis on the fact that “no actual road was ever constructed or came into existence” (A.R. 103) goes against the long standing legal precedent that an existing right-of-way is not defeated by mere non-user.

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