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

The only evidence submitted was a "Planning Document" that illustrates the concept of 6 lots. There is no evidence that any purchaser ever saw this document. It was not recorded. None of the original deeds refer to the recorded plat. (See argument for Assignment of Error II, III. And IV.)

Petitioners claim for an express easement fails on many levels. Not express, not identifiable, not transferred unless appurtenant, not appurtenant because not essential and just not the law. Based upon the evidence submitted at trial the Circuit Court was correct in finding that there was no express easement from Lot 6 to Route 50.

B. The Circuit Court's finding that the Petitioner does not possess an express easement is clearly erroneous and deprives the Petitioner of this property rights acquired by deed by defeating Petitioner's intended use and complete enjoyment of his property.

This assignment of error has been addressed in the previous to responses and would be incorporated into this subsection. This is again an equitable argument not premised upon any existing law. There was evidence that the "backroad" was just as good and was used in the construction of Respondent's garage. The Circuit Court was correct in its ruling and the same should be affirmed by this Honorable Court.

II. The Circuit Court incorrectly applied the "Unity Doctrine."

Petitioner is incorrect in his argument on the "Unity Doctrine." It is uncontested that the a plat showing easements and the 6 lots was never recorded even though the law required that to be done. It is clear that nobody other than the developer, Mr. Doll, and the Surveyor, Mr. Vanscoy, ever saw this document. It should be noted that Mr. Doll and Mr. Vanscoy were brother-in-laws. It is clear that none of the Deeds reference any recorded "master plat" of the subdivision. The deeds of severance only contain a plat of the individual lot being conveyed. It should be noted that this case differs from the case of *Huddleston v. Deans*, 21 S.E.2d 352, 124 W.Va 313 (1942). The Huddleston case has a master plat that did exist, was later recorded, and the deeds referred to the plat. It should also be noted that the statutory requirement to file the plat pursuant to WV Code § 39-1-13 was not yet enacted at the time of the original conveyances in Huddleston.

A. Petitioner is entitled to use of the Right-of-Way under the Unity Doctrine.

Petitioner is incorrect in his interpretation of the cases cited. In Syllabus Point 1 of both *Cook v. Totten*, 38 S.E. 491, 49 W.Va. 177 (1901) and *Deitz v. Johnson*, 6 S.E.2d 231, 121 W.Va. 711 (1939) it clearly states that the plat must be recorded. In both of those cases the plat was recorded providing notice to the public of the private or public dedication. In both of those cases the deed of conveyance made reference to the recorded plat. In the present case no master plat showing all easements was recorded and the deeds make no reference to the recorded plat. In the *Huddleston* case the deed made reference to the map that did exist.

The Unity Doctrine requires that a plat be recorded. This is now the law and also serves the purpose of putting the public on notice of the existence of the roadways. The recording of the plat also serves as a private dedication to the owners of the lots in the subdivision of the

easements platted. The reference to the recorded plat incorporates the plat into the deed which is in essence the contract between the parties.

In the present case the evidence presented was that the plat was only a planning document. (Appendix 164, Line 15) There is no evidence that the plat was incorporated into the original Deeds. (Appendix 10, 14 and 18) Furthermore, all of the facts relevant to the Assignment of Error I. A. and B. are incorporated.

It does not square with the law on real property and easements to enforce a document that is not of public record and not incorporated into the Deed itself. This slippery slope could lead to lot owners being bound by restrictions that were conceptual plans seen only by the developer.

The Circuit Court was correct in holding that the Unity Doctrine did not apply to the evidence presented.

B. Respondents had record notice of the Petitioner's front Right-of-Way

Petitioner is not correct in his averment that the Respondent had record notice of the front right-of-way. Petitioner's deed is found at Appendix 22-24, does not have the language found in prior deeds regarding the reserved easement (only the language regarding the Utility Easement), and does not have a plat attached. Petitioner incorrectly references the original deed to lot 6 as his in Petitioner's Brief.

Petitioner is playing a little fast with the evidence presented at trial. The "backroad" easement is clearly shown on the respective plats. The reservation clause clearly refers to the "backroad" as being used in common with others. The fact is at least two other property owners possess and express easement along the entire "backroad" and at one time the three

lots were owned by three different families. Conversely, the "frontroad" as the Petitioner now calls it was never constructed by the Grantor, never existed in reality, and was obviously never used. The curious point is that even the Plat for Lot 6 (Appendix 21) terminates the easement at the boundary line for Lot 6. This begs the question of how could it be used with others when it serves no other properties and connects to nothing.

As far as record notice of the front right-of-way the evidence presented in this matter was clear. Petitioner's expert testified at both the hearings that he "assumed" the place where the planned easement would intersect with Route 50. Mr. Vanscoy admitted at trial that from the recorded plat there was "no way to tell where this right-of-way goes." (Appendix 215, Line 5) As previously mentioned the Respondent walked the property before purchase and saw no signs of any roads other than the "backroad." (Appendix 122, Line 10) Not to be forgotten is the fact there did exist, at the time of severance, a roadway from Route 50, up through the trailer park, up the hill to the well near the contested easement now called the "frontroad." (Appendix 82) Mr. Vanscoy began by saying the only place the road could come out was on the 30' entrance where Respondents private driveway enters Route 50. Eventually Mr. Vanscoy remembered another potential road that was in existence at time of severance. (Appendix 165, Line 5 – 170, Line 18) (Appendix 215, Line 5 – 219, Line 13) This roadway went through the trailer park that was being leased by Mr. Doll, Developer, at the time of severance. To be clear, this other roadway does not go completely to Lot 6 but is very close.

Based upon the fact that the "frontroad" was never constructed there would be no notice from a visual inspection. Based upon the fact that the plat for lot 6 does not show a complete road, the road would be outside the platted property and not essential or otherwise

appurtenant. Respondent would incorporate the argument from Assignment of Error I. that relates to the *Rose and Husson* cases. Based upon the testimony of Petitioners own expert that there is no way to tell where this easement goes from the recorded plat. There is no record notice sufficient to show the existence of a non-existent road. The Petitioner did not come close to meeting their burden on the existence of an easement. The Circuit Court was correct in its ruling that the Petitioner did not possess an easement from Lot 6 to Route 50.

III. The Circuit Court misapplied the law in requiring that Petitioner's right-of-way must first be "opened" to exist.

Petitioner's argument is not in concert with the occurrence at the lower proceeding. Respondent's Counsel conceded at the first hearing a roadway could be conveyed that did not yet exist by one of two ways. A recorded master plat would serve as a private dedication and if properly referenced in the deeds for the subdivision the law is clear that all owners acquire an implied easement to use the roadways on the recorded plat. The second way would be an express grant with a sufficient description for the location, preferably metes and bounds. Neither of these two methods occurred. Again, Petitioner is citing cases that are factually different in that a Master Plat was recorded in the cases cited.

The word "opened" is not used in the Trial Order. The Court found that the easement from Lot 6 to Route 50 was never created, did not exist and there was nothing of record sufficient to determine the location. These findings are all based upon the evidence in this matter.

The Circuit Court was correct in his ruling and should be affirmed.

A. The Circuit Court's emphasis on the fact that "no actual road was ever constructed or came into existence" (Appendix 103) goes against the long standing legal precedent that an existing right-of-way is not defeated by mere non-user.

Petitioner's argument is misplaced. Only the Trial Court can interpret its own orders but there is no suggestion in the order that the decision was based upon non-use. A more logical interpretation of the order is that if there was a reservation it applied to roads "constructed by Grantor." Grantor did not construct any more roads, filed bankruptcy and thus the roadway could never spring into existence. A simple interpretation is that the Court could not find any evidence for the location of this "frontroad" sufficient to declare the easement.

In a declaratory judgment action, the Court reviews the evidence and declares the rights and interests of the parties. The Circuit Court was correct in declaring that the easement was not possessed by the Petitioner for several reasons. Respondent incorporates all proceeding arguments.

B. Petitioner's right-of way is an easement created by express grant and therefore cannot be extinguished by nonuser.

Petitioner's argument relies upon the fact that this Court will reverse the Trial Court ruling that the Petitioner does not have an express easement. Respondent would incorporate the entire argument from Assignment of Error I. A. and B..

Respondents have never conceded that Petitioner has an easement from Lot 6 to Route 50. There is no inference from the Trial Order to believe that the Circuit Judge relied upon the Affidavit in making his determination.

In Arguendo, should this Court reverse the Circuit Court and rule that Petitioner has an express easement, then the testimony of Mr. Shrout would become necessary to prove abandonment. Non-use would be evident. The intent to abandon would be from the mouth of Mr. Shrout. This issue is not ripe at this time.

the mention in the description. This theory is premised upon the intent to pass all that you have and that which is necessary for the land. Once again, see Husson on was this essential since there is other access that actually does exist and did and the time of conveyance. See Rose on that which is outside the platted area.

The Circuit Court did not err and was correct in the ruling.

V. The Circuit Court erred in finding that the right-of-way in question did not enter U.S. Route 50 at the location proffered by Petitioner, which goes against the clear weight of the testimony.

Petitioner is incorrect regarding the survey markers found. They had nothing to do with a right-of-way but were merely the boundary markers. Petitioner's expert testified at both hearings that he assumed this would be the only place it could exit onto Route 50. It cannot be overlooked that he also testified that there was another road and that there was no way to tell where the easement went from the plat of record. (Appendix 215) Even the plat he prepared as a "planning document" does not show the intersection with Route 50. (Appendix 68) Petitioner's expert when cross examined about where the easement was intended to be located plainly stated that "Where was the right-of-way intended, I DON'T KNOW." (emphasis added) (Appendix 170, Line 17)

Does it not stand to reason that the roadway in existence, used by Developer to access a well near the corner of Lot 6 would be the plan; not the creation of an entirely new road. Perhaps there was a backup plan to use the 30' if the developer could not acquire the land he was leasing. But these are assumptions, just like the Petitioner's theory. Simply stated, verdicts must be based on fact, not assumptions.

IV. The Circuit Court erred in finding that no right-of-way existed, notwithstanding a finding that the Plat to Lot 6 “illustrated an easement extending from the southwestern corner” and that “the original developer may have intended to construct an easement.” (A.R. 103).

The clear reading of the Trial Order says “Although the original developer MAY (emphasis added) have intended to construct an easement leading from Lot 6 to US Route 50, this was never done.” (Appendix 103, No: 10) It appears that the Circuit Court opined that this MAY have been his intent, but that was not sufficient to establish the existence of the easement. Respondent repeats, the reservation was for roads that may be constructed by Grantor. Until the Grantor constructs the road then the easement has not come into existence. Again, a non-existent easement may be created two ways, neither of which occurred in the present case.

Any cause of action from original Grantee would have been against the Developer. That possibility was extinguished via bankruptcy. Furthermore, post-bankruptcy the reserved easement language disappears from the chain of title. Thus we are left with appurtenant rights passing by habendum and this easement is not essential and therefore not appurtenant.

Hussen page 7.

Better proof of intent would have been to follow the law and record a master plat clearly showing all easements and then incorporate the master plat by reference into each deed.

Petitioner is mixing theories. There is no express grant or reservation for this non-existent easement. Again, Respondent points out this was stated by Petitioner’s Counsel. (Appendix 171, Line 2) At best there is an implied easement based upon the Plat for Lot 6 and

The location of the easement is only an assumption. There was another road nearby in existence at the time of conveyance crossing land leased by developer. After hearing all of the evidence at the Temporary Injunction Hearing and the Bench Trial, the Circuit Court opined correctly that "The testimony was that it was assumed to enter US Route 50 at the location of Plaintiff's driveway. There is also evidence of another roadway that entered US Route 50 at a different location. The other roadway was in existence at the time of severance and the Plaintiff's driveway was not in existence at that time." (Appendix 103, No 9)

The Circuit Court was correct in ruling that the Petitioner failed to meet their burden on the location of the easement and the ruling should be affirmed.

VI. The Circuit Court erred in denying Petitioner damages in his Counterclaim.

Respondent has been unable to understand this claim. Petitioner made some allegation regarding his loss due to the inability to remove logs he timbered. He estimated \$40,000.00. He testified that he had timbered maybe 2 acres and the worth was seven to ten thousand. However, that would be 1/3 of the land and the math doesn't work. Interesting is that the pictures showed that the timber had been removed. Petitioner then said he cut it up for firewood. Regardless of if the Circuit Court found any credibility in this witness the problem is causation.

Petitioner's theory is that the Respondents are liable for resorting to aid of law, filing a law suit and seeking an injunction. The Circuit Court granted the Temporary Injunction after Petitioner had notice and an opportunity to contest the Respondent's Motion. The Circuit Judge granted the temporary injunction. The Order of the Court prevented the use of the

Respondent's private driveway. Petitioner did request a bond to cover the damages, the Circuit Court set bond and the Respondent posted the bond. However, the Petitioner did not prevail at trial and the bond was returned to the Respondents. Clearly no liability for loss was ever established. Nothing on the record mentions this and no evidence of liability was ever introduced.

Where in the law is an individual liable for the Order of the Court? The Circuit Court was correct ruling against the Petitioner on the issue of damages as no liability was proven. The order of the Circuit Court should be affirmed.

VII. The Circuit Court erred in entering two orders for the same hearing

Respondent can only say that the Court admitted to entering Petitioner's proposed order (Appendix 31) in error. The Circuit Court stated that Respondent's proposed Order (Appendix 34) was more appropriate. (Appendix 186, Line 16) This can only be harmless error. The Trial Order is the final order. The Trial Order is the order being appealed. Petitioner's brief deals with the rulings from the Trial Order.

CONCLUSION

When applying the findings of fact made by the Trial Judge to the Conclusions of law the verdict was proper and just. The Circuit Court heard the evidence and declared the rights of the parties.

Respondents request this Honorable Court afford the following relief;

1. Affirm the rulings of the Circuit Court;